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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of
CERTAIN ADJUSTABLE KEYBOARD Investigation No. 337-TA-670
SUPPORT SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION OF NO VIOLATION OF
SECTION 337; TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined that there is no violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1337 by respondents in the above-referenced
investigation. The investigation is terminated.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Jia Chen, Office of the General Counsel, U.S.
International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202)
708-4737. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this investigation are
or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the
Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington,
D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the Commission may
also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at Atip./www.usitc. gov. The public record for
this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket (EDIS) at

http://edis. usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this matter can
be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
March 13, 2009 based on a complaint filed by Humanscale Corporation (“Humanscale™) of New
York, New York. 74 Fed. Reg. 10963 (Mar. 13, 2009). The complaint, as amended, named
CompX International, Inc., of Dallas, Texas and Waterloo Furniture Components Limited, of
Ontario, Canada (collectively, “CompX”) as respondents. The complaint alleged violations of
section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain
adjustable keyboard support systems and components thereof that infringe certain claims of U.S.
Patent No. 5,292,097 (“the ‘097 patent™).



On February 23, 2010, the ALJ issued a final ID, including his recommended
determination on remedy and bonding. In his ID, the ALJ found that CompX’s “Wedge-Brake”
products do not infringe either claims 7 or 34. The ALJ found that CompX’s “Brake-Shoe”
products, on the other hand, do infringe claims 7 and 34, but that respondents established that
claim 7 is invalid because it is obvious under 35 U.S.C. § 103. The ALJ further found that
respondents have not established the defense of intervening rights. Finally, the ALJ found that
complainant proved the existence of a domestic industry in the United States. Accordingly, the
ALJ recommended that the Commission issue a limited exclusion order barring entry into the
United States of infringing adjustable keyboard support systems and components thereof. The
ALIJ further recommended the issuance of a cease and desist order against respondent Waterloo
Furniture Components Ltd.

On March 9, 2010, Humanscale, CompX, and the Commission investigative attorney
(“IA”) each filed a petition for review of the ALJ’s final ID. On April 26, 2010, the Commission
determined to review a portion of the ALJ’s ID and requested briefing from the parties on the
issues under review and on remedy, the public interest, and bonding. On May 17, 2010,
Humanscale, CompX, and the IA each filed responses to the Commission’s request for written
submissions. On May 27, 2010, Humanscale, CompX and the IA filed reply submissions. On
June 14, 2010, CompX filed a surreply to Humanscale’s reply submission.

Having examined the record of this investigation, including the ALLJ’s ID and the
submissions of the parties, the Commission has determined to reverse the ALJ’s determination
that the respondents violated section 337. The Commission finds the asserted claims are not
infringed and are invalid.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in section 210.45 of the Commission’s
Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.45).

Marilyn R. Abbott
Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: July 9, 2010
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ADJUSTABLE KEYBOARD
SUPPORT SYSTEMS AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF

Investigation No. 337-TA-670

COMMISSION OPINION

On February 23, 2010, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) issued a final

initial determination (“ID”) that respondents violated section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19

U.S.C. § 1337). The ALJ found that respondents’ “Brake-Shoe” products infringe asserted

independent claim 7 and dependent claim 34 of United States Patent No. 5,292,097 (“the ‘097

patent™), but that claim 7 is invalid for obviousness under 35 U.S.C. § 103. He also found that

respondents’ “Wedge-Brake” products do not infringe claims 7 and 34. On April 26, 2010, the

Commission determined to review a portion of the ID relating to the “Brake-Shoe” products. On

June 23, 2010, the Commission issued notice of its decision to reverse the ALJ’s determination

and to terminate the investigation with a finding of no violation due to noninfringement and

invalidity of the asserted claims. The following opinion sets forth the reasons for the

Commission’s determination. The Commission adopts the ALJ’s ID to the extent it is not

inconsistent with this opinion.
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I. BACKGROUND
A. Procedural History

The Commission instituted this investigation on March 13, 2009 based on a complaint
filed by Humanscale Corporation (“Humanscale™) of New York, New York. The complaint, as
amended, named CompX International, Inc. of Dallas, Texas, and Waterloo Furniture
Components Ltd. of Ontario, Canada (collectively, “CompX”) as respondents. The complaint
alleged violations of section 337 in the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain adjustable
keyboard support systems and components thereof that infringe claims 7, 10, 26, 27, 34, 37, 38,
and 44 of the ‘097 patent. During the investigation, the Commission allowed the complainant to
terminate the investigation with regard to claims 10, 26, 27, 37, 38, and 44. As a result, only
independent claim 7 and dependent claim 34 remain in this investigation.

On November 4, 2009, the ALJ issued an initial determination (Order No. 27) granting
Humanscale’s motion for summary determination that it has satisfied the economic prong of the
domestic industry requirement under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2). On November 16, 2009,
respondents filed a petition for review of the ID. On November 23, 2009, Humanscale and the
Commission investigative attorney (“IA”) filed oppositions to the petition for review, arguing,
inter alia, that CompX’s petition for review was untimely and CompX did not request leave to
file its petition out of time. After examining the record in this investigation, the Commission
agreed that the petition was untimely, but determined to review the ID on its own motion
pursuant to Commission Rule 210.44. On review, the Commission requested the parties to brief
their respective positions on the issues under review with reference to the applicable law and the

evidentiary record. The parties submitted briefs in response on January 15, 2010 and reply briefs
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on January 22, 2010.

Meanwhile, the ALJ held an evidentiary hearing on December 1-4, 2010, and thereafter
received post-hearing briefs from the parties. On February 23, 2010, the ALJ issued the subject
ID, including his recommended determination on remedy and bonding. In the final ID, the ALJ
found that respondents did not establish by clear and convincing evidence that asserted
independent claim 7 is invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102, but that they did establish that claim 7 is
invalid for obviousness under 35 U.S.C. § 103. The ALJ also found that respondents did not
establish that asserted dependent claim 34 is invalid under either 35 U.S.C. §§ 102 or 103. He
found that, if independent claim 7 is not invalid, one of the three categories of CompX’s accused
products, i.e., the “Brake-Shoe” products, infringes independent claim 7. He also found that this
same category of CompX’s accused products infringes dependent claim 34. He found, however,
that the remaining categories of CompX’s accused products, i.e., the “Front Wedge-Brake” and
the “Rear Wedge-Brake” products, do not infringe claims 7 or 34.

The ALJ further found that respondents did not establish any intervening rights under 35
U.S.C. § 252, which would be a defense to infringement. Finally, the ALJ found that
complainant proved the existence of a domestic industry in the United States with respect to the

“097 patent. Accordingly, the ALJ recommended that the Commission issue a limited exclusion
order barring entry into the United States of infringing adjustable keyboard support systems and
components thereof. The ALJ further recommended the issuance of a cease and desist order
against respondent Waterloo Furniture Components Ltd. Finally, he recommended that the
Commission set the bond during the Presidential review period at 100 percent of the entered
value of the infringing products.

On March 9, 2010, complainant filed a petition for review of the final ID, challenging the
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ALJ’s determination with respect to claim construction, non-infringement of asserted claims 7
and 34 by respondents’ “Front Wedge-Brake” and the “Rear Wedge-Brake” products, the
priority date of claim 34, and invalidity of daim 7 for obviousness under 35 U.S.C. § 103. On
the same day, réspondents filed a petition for review, challenging the ALJ’s determination with
respect to claim construction, infringement of claims 7 and 34 by the Brake-Shoe products,
validity of claims 7 and 34 under 35 U.S.C. § 112, paragraph 2, validity of claim 34 under 35
U.S.C. §§ 102 and 103, the defense of intervening rights, and the economic prong of the
domestic industry requirement.! Also on the same day, the IA filed a petition for review,
challenging the ALJ’s determination only with respect to validity of claim 34 under 35 U.S.C.
§ 103. On March 17, 2010, complainant, respondents, and the IA filed reply submissions.

On April 26, 2010, the Commission determined to review a portion of the ALJ’s final ID.
Specifically, the Commission determined to review: (1) the claim construction of the term
“frictionally interengagable” recited in claim 34, (2) infringement of claim 34 by respondents’
“Brake-Shoe” products, (3) the priority date of claim 34, (4) invalidity for anticipation and
obviousness of claims 7 and 34, and (5) the defense of intervening rights. The Commission
determined not to review the remaining issues. The issue of the economic prong of the domestic
industry requirement was already on review. The Commission requested briefing on the issues
on review, remedy, the public interest, and bonding and asked that the parties respond to several
questions relating to the issues on review. On May 17, 2010, complainant Humanscale,
respondents CompX, and the IA each filed responses to the Commission’s request for written
submissions. On May 27, 2010, complainant, respondents, and the IA filed reply submissions.

On May 24, 2010, respondents filed a motion to strike section VI of complainant’s reply

"None of the parties challenged the ALJ’s determination with respect to the technical prong of
the domestic industry requirement.
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submission. In the motion, respondents point out that complainant failed to follow the
Commission’s instruetions regarding briefing the issues of remedy, the public interest and
bonding that were included in the Commission’s notice of review, and that instead of briefing
these issues in its main submission, complainant addressed them in Section IV of its reply
submission. Respondents requested that the Commission strike the remedy, public interest, and
bonding section of complainant’s reply brief, or alternatively, allow respondents to submit a
response to this section of complainant’s reply brief. On June 4, 2010, the Commission granted
respondents’ request to file a surreply. Respondents filed the surreply on June 14, 2010.
B. Patent at Issue

The 097 patent, entitled “Work Surface Support,” issued on March 09, 1993 to Edwin R.
Russell. The ‘097 patent is a continuation-in-part of United States Patent Application No.
07/607,448 (“the ‘448 parent application™), filed on October 31, 1990. The ‘448 parent
application was also subject to a provisional Australian patent application, PJ 7133, filed on
October 31, 1989 and published on May 9, 1991 (“the AU €578 application”). The ‘097 patent
was subject to a reexamination request by complainant Humanscale on October 13, 2004. The
ex parte reexamination certificate number US 5,292,097C1 issued on August 26, 2008 and states
that claims 1, 2, 5, 16, 18, 30-33, 39 and 46 were cancelled, claims 3, 5,6, 7, 10, 11, 14, 17, 18,
20, 21, 26, 34, 40-42 and 47 were determined to be patentable as amended, and claims 8, 9, 12,
13, 15, 22-25, 27-29, 35-38, 43-45, and 48-52, dependent on the amended claims, were
determined to be patentable. The claims are generally directed to an adjustable work surface
support mechanism having a pair of swing-link suspension arms for adjusting a support platform,

such as a computer keyboard, in a range of desired positions.
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C. Products at Issue

Complainant has accused three different categories of keyboard support mechanisms
manufactured, imported, and sold by respondents of infringement: (1) “Rear Wedge-Brake”
products, in which a pair of wedge locks is attached to the linkage arms at the fixed base side of
the assembly (2) “Front Wedge-Brake” products, in which a pair of wedge locks is attached to
the linkage arms at the support platform side of the assembly, and (3) “Brake-Shoe” products, in
which the locking members are engaged and disengaged with brake shoes. Only the “Brake-
Shoe” products were found by the ALJ to infringe the asserted claims and are at issue on review.

II. ANALYSIS

A. Claim Construction of “Frictionally Interengagable”

The term “frictionally interengagable” is recited in asserted claim 34 of the ‘097 patent,
which depends from asserted claim 7. Claims 7 and 34 state:

7. A support means [as claimed at claim 1] for supporting a support platform
from a fixed base whereby the support platform is movable between a first
position at least partially below the fixed base and a second position in front of
the fixed base, said support means comprising a first element adapted to be
mounted to the support platform, a second element adapted to be affixed to said
fixed base, a pair of linkage elements each pivotally fixed at one end to said first
element at spaced intervals on said first element and each pivotally mounted at
the other end to said second element at spaced locations spaced on said second
element for movement of the support platform between the first and second
positions and throughout such movement the attitude of said support platform
remains substantially constant, said support means further comprising a locking
means for locking said support platform in a range of positions including said
second position, said locking means comprising a first locking member supported
on one of said elements and having a first engagement face engagable with a
second engagement face provided on a second locking member provided on
another of said elements, said locking members being movable relative to each
other upon the exertion of a force to one of these two elements for moving said
locking members (o a released position at which the engagable faces are
disengaged for subsequent movement of said support platform relative to said
base to any of a plurality of desired positions, release of the force being effective
to cause said engagement faces to re-engage to retain said second element
relative to said first element in the desired positions wherein the pivotal
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connection of one link element to one of said first and second elements is
displaceable longitudinally from the pivotal connection of the one link element
with the other of said elements, said first locking member being provided on said
one link element and said second locking member being provided on the other of
said elements, such longitudinal displacement being effective to move said
locking members between their released and locked positions.

‘097 patent, col. 1, 1. 35—col. 2, 1. 4.

34. A support means as claimed at claim [5] 7 wherein [the first] locking [member is

provided on one link element and the second locking member is provided on one of

the first or second elements, the pivotal connection of one link element to the one of

said first and second elements is displaceable longitudinally from the pivotal

connection of the one link element with the other of said first and second elements]

members are adapted to be frictionally interengagable when engaged with each

other.

‘097 patent, col. 3, 11 8-15.2 The bold term is the only claim limitation at issue on review.

In his final ID, the ALJ construed “frictionally interengagable” to mean “capable of
locking engagement by application of only a frictional force sufficient to maintain a locked
position during normal use,” which the ALJ emphasized to be distinct from “a serration
arrangement.” 1D at 43. According to the ALJ, it is undisputed that all of the locking
mechanisms of the devices in the ‘097 patent and the related prior art have friction acting on
them in some form or another, if for no other reason than because some friction is always present
between parts of a machine that engage each other. /d. at 41. The ALJ pointed out, however,
that pursuant to the doctrine of claim differentiation, a specific limitation in a dependent claim
raises a presumption that the limitation is not present in the independent claim, especially when
the only difference between the independent and dependent claims is the limitation in dispute.
Id. Moreover, the ALJ found that unasserted dependent claim 4, which also depends from

asserted independent claim 7, discloses only the limitation that “one of locking members is

serrated.” Id. at 42. Thus, the ALJ found that dependent claim 4 and asserted dependent claim

* The bracketed text shows portions that were removed during the reexamination process, and the
italicized text shows portions that were added during the reexamination process.
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34 each disclose different types of locking members and that the scope of asserted independent
claim 7 includes some locking members that are not serrated. Id. Furthermore, the ALJ found
that the ‘097 patent does not mention friction in its description of any of the embodiments other
than the ninth embodiment, which describes that locking with frictionally interengagable locking
members “is effected” through friction. Id. Thus, the ALJ concluded that to qualify as
“frictionally interrengable” locking members, locking members must involve friction as the
principle on which they rely and not merely as an incidentally present force. Id. at 42-43.

First, we agree with the ALJ that claim 34 cannot cover locking mechanisms that have
only incidental friction. Otherwise, the limitation of claim 34 that “locking members are adapted
to be frictionally interengagable when engaged with each other” would be superfluous and claim
34 would cover all locking mechanisms under claim 7. See Phillips v. Awh Corp. Inc., 415 F.3d
1393, 1315 (Fed. Cir. 2005); see also SunRace Roots Enter. Co. v. SRAM Corp., 336 F.3d 1298,
1303 (Fed. Cir. 2003). Because claim 34 is presumed to differ in scope from claim 7, it does not
cover all locking means with interengagable locking members as recited in claim 7.

The specification of the ‘097 patent describes in further detail the types of locking means
that are excluded from the term “frictionally interengagable.” In its description of the ninth
embodiment, the specification emphasizes the distinction between locking surfaces that are
“frictionally inter-engaged” and locking surfaces where “locking inter-engagement is effected
through complementary serrated formations™:

The ninth embodiment shown at FIGS. 20, 21 and 22 is of very similar form to

the eighth embodiment of FIGS. 19, 20 and 21. The exception provided by the

ninth embodiment however relates to the nature of the locking inter-

engagement between the locking surfaces. In previous embodiments the

locking inter-engagement is effected through complementary serrated

formation provided on the opposed locking surfaces. In the case of the ninth
embodiment the locking surfaces are frictionally inter-engaged.
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‘097 patent, col. 6, 1. 37-65 (emphasis added). Thus, we also agree with the ALJ that
“frictionally interengagable” locking members are distinct from locking members having “a
serration arrangement” found in several embodiments of the ‘097 patent other than the ninth
embodiment. ID at 43. As explained by respondents’ expert, the written description of the ninth
embodiment conveys to a person of ordinary skill in the art that “the inventor had within his
possession that solely friction could be used or that friction is sufficient to provide locking and
that . . . you can now have an infinite number of positions as opposed to the discrete positions . . .
conveyed by the first seven embodiments.” Tr. at 1374, 11.11-19.

The parties dispute, however, whether the ALJ limited claim 34 to V-shaped locking
members. The specification describes at least one way of implementing “frictionally
interengagable” locking surfaces:

As shown at FIG. 22 the arcuate locking surface 35 has a convex V-shaped profile

while the adjacent end 36 of the one link member is formed with a V-shaped

groove which is receivable over the arcuate locking surface. In addition the

degree of divergence of the convex surface of the arcuate locking surface 35 is

greater than that of the groove on the one link element 15.

‘097 patent, col. 6, 11. 37-54. According to Figure 22, locking surface 35 has a convex V-shaped

profile and the locking surface 36 has a V-shaped groove:

3
o,
N -~
", > g

38

‘097 patent, Fig. 22. Complainant argues that the ALJ’s construction of “frictionally
interengagable” essentially limits claim 34 to the V-shaped frictional locking members disclosed

in the specification’s ninth embodiment, and as a result, impermissibly requires all locking to
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take place at the first and second locking members of claim 7. Respondents argue that thé ALJ’s
construction does not limit claim 34 to the V-shaped frictional locking members of the ninth
embodiment, but that the ALJ incorrectly applied his construction in his obviousness analysis.
We find that, contrary to the assertions of both complainant and respondents, the ALJ simply did
not address whether “frictionally interengagable™ locking members should be limited to these
locking members having V-shaped profiles and grooves. The ALJ does, however, seem to
inconsistently apply his claim construction in his subsequent infringement analysis with respect
to the Brake-Shoe products and his obviousness and priority date analyses for claim 34. To
arrive at his conclusion that the Brake-Shoe products meet the “frictionally interengagable”
limitation, the ALJ assumed that his construction of the limitation is not necessarily limited to
the V-shaped profiles and grooves of the ninth embodiment. See ID at 66-67. By contrast, in his
priority date and obviousness analyses of claim 34, the ALJ assumed that his construction of the
limitation “frictionally interengagable” is limited to the V-shaped profiles and grooves of the
ninth embodiment. Compare id. at 92 and 138.

Because the claims of a patent measure the invention at issue, the claims must be
interpreted and given the same meaning for purposes of both our validity and infringement
analyses. Amazon.com, Inc. v. Barnesandnoble.com, Inc., 239 F.3d 1343, 1351 (Fed. Cir. 2001).
Turning to the language of claim 34 itself, we find that claim 34 makes no reference o V-shaped
profiles and grooves, as contrasted with the language of unasserted claim 26, which also depends
from claim 7. Specifically, claim 26 recites the limitation “wherein the one engagement face has
V-shaped profile and the other engagement face has a concave V-shaped profile.” ‘097 patent,
col. 3, 11. 4-6. The clear reference to the V-shaped profile in claim 26 and the lack of such

reference in claim 34 suggests that claim 34 is not limited in that way. In addition, while the

10
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specification describes the V-shaped profile and grooves in the context of the ninth embodiment,
there is no indication that this is the only way to implement frictionally interengagable locking
surfaces. Absent a clear disavowal or contrary definition in the specification or the prosecution
history, the patentee is entitled to the full scope of its claim language. Home Diagnostics Inc. v.
Lifescan Inc., 381 F.3d 1352, 1358 (Fed. Cir. 2004). Thus, “frictionally interengagable” locking
means of claim 34 are not limited to the V-shaped profiles and grooves of the ninth embodiment.

With respect to claim 34’s reference to “locking members,” complainant argues that the
frictionally interengagable locking members of claim 34 need not be the first and second locking
members of claim 7 and relies on this claim construction argument in its infringement analysis.
Complainant argues that because claim 7°s locking means “comprises” a first locking member
and a second locking member and because the locking members of claim 34 have no antecedent
restrictions, claim 34 is met if any set of locking members of the locking means of claim 7 is
frictionally interengagable. The ALIJ did not address this specific issue in his claim construction
of the term “frictionally interengagable.”

Comparing the language of independent claim 7 to that of dependent claim 34, we note
that the “locking members” of claim 34 do not specifically refer to the “first” and “second
locking members” of claim 7. Claim 7°s locking means “comprise” a first locking member and a
second locking member, and therefore may include additional locking members. See e.g.,
Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. US. Gypsum, Co., 195 F.3d 1322, 1327-28 (Fed. Cir. 1999) (“The
transitional term ‘comprising’ . . . is inclusive or open ended and does not exclude additional,
unrecited elements or method steps.”). However, we do not agree with complainant that just
because the locking members of claim 34 have no antecedent restrictions, claim 34 is met if any

set of locking members of the locking means of claim 7 is frictionally interengagable. In our

11
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view, because claim 34 recites “wherein locking members are adapted to be frictionally
interengagable when engaged with each other,” a plain reading of the claim indicates that all
locking members must be frictionally interengagable to meet the limitation. Despite the number
of locking members the locking means of claim 7 potentially “comprises,” claim 34 does not
recite that any or at least one set of locking members must be adapted to be frictionally
interengagable when engaged with each other, as complainant’s argument assumes. Thus, we
find that the frictionally interengagable locking members of claim 34 must include at least the
first and second locking members of claim 7.

For the foregoing reasons, we agree with the ALJ that the proper construction of the term
“frictionally interengagable™ of claim 34 of the ‘097 patent is “capable of locking engagement by
application of only a frictional force sufficient to maintain a locked position during normal use.”
Under this construction, “frictionally interengagable” locking members are distinct from locking
members having a serration arrangement but are not necessarily limited to the V-shaped profile
and groove structures described in the ninth embodiment. In addition, under this construction,
the frictionally interengagable locking members of claim 34 must include at least the first and
second locking members of claim 7.

B. Infringement

1. Infringement of Claim 34 by the Brake-Shoe Products

In his infringement analysis of claim 34, the ALJ determined that the Brake-Shoe
products practice the “frictionally interengagable” limitation of claim 34 because “respondents’
expert has stated that the locking of the Brake-Shoe products use ‘frictional engagement for
sufficient force to lock the mechanism’ and that an actuating force on one link arm causes a

Brake-Shoe to brake against another link arm.” ID at 66. Specifically, the ALJ relied on the

12
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following testimony:

Q. Where is the braking force on this Brake-Shoe product?

A. It is between — in this picture [RDX-1A.50] there’s a dark region that looks

like a three-quarter moon that has a bolt through it, a pivot point through it. You

can see the hexagonal bolt pin that goes through it. That brake force occurs

between that element — that element, that rake shoe, and the upper link arm, which

we can see — the best way to describe the upper link arm in this photo for the

record would be it’s actually inside. Or if we look at a — if you look at an axis

that goes into the picture, it’s inside and partially being covered up by that three-

quarter moon. That’s the upper link arm that interacts with the surface of the

Brake-Shoe as it rotates to cause frictional engagement for sufficient force to lock

the mechanism . . . .

Id. at 65 (quoting Tr. at 1257:19-1248:13). Because infringement of claim 34 by the Brake-Shoe
products is affected by the proper construction of the term “frictionally interengagable,” the
Commission determined to review this issue.

The distinguishing characteristic of the Brake-Shoe products is the three-quarter moon-
shaped brake-shoe. In addition, the Brake-Shoe products include two link arms: an upper arm
and a lower arm. The parties do not dispute that the three-quarter moon-shaped brake shoe
serves as the “second locking member” recited in claim 7 as well as one of the “locking
members” of claim 34. The parties disagree, however, over which link arm of the accused
device the brake shoe, i.e., the “second locking member,” frictionally engages with.

According to independent claim 7, one of the link arms, or “link element,” must have
“pivotal connections” that are “displaceable longitudinally” from each other. ‘097 patent, col. 1,
1. 63—col. 2, 1. 4. Claim 7 also requires that “the first locking member” be provided on the one
link element with the longitudinally displaceable pivotal connections. /d. Because the upper
link arm of the Brake-Shoe device does not have longitudinally displaceable pivotal connections

under the ALJ’s construction of the limitation, the only possible location for the “first locking

member” is on the lower link arm of the accused device.

13
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Complainant’s expert testified that friction exists at the “actuation interface” between the
three-quarter moon-shaped brake shoe and the lower link arm:
Q. Is it still your opinion, Dr. Pratt, that at the engagement faces, which |
believe that you testified were at the actuation interface, they are adapted
to be frictionally interengagable?
A. Yes. One of the engagement faces, which happens to be at the interface
annotated as the actuation interface does have friction and resistance to
relative motion along that interface is resisted by friction, not blocking.
Tr. 1603:16-1604:19. Complainant’s expert, however, did not testify that the friction existing at
this “actuation interface” between the lower link arm and the-brake shoe is sufficient to lock the
entire device. Rather, complainant’s expert admitted that much of locking of the device “may
occur between the brake shoe and another interface.” Tr. at 1604:7-19.
Respondents’ expert testified that any friction that can possibly occur between the lower
link arm and the brake shoe will not be sufficient to maintain a locked position during normal

use. The testimony is more clearly illustrated by the following drawing of the Brake-Shoe

product:

14



PUBLIC VERSION

S GUTERL ATM -~
. ; / B ALas PiT Posd COPRER Puny

f(gu WA Paad)

]ﬁu‘&
£
W

¥ o Jt,
LLEIS e
-

e FRMIEEL A%
‘\ - FEMIEE AR%an

&Q&{Eﬁﬁﬁ
e s2e Pl Peaar

. — WA
P et *‘«,\ — T e 2 8
o e )M \ o e 4 j pLER A THERRAT s
™ by :~ 2 » v ‘1~ % P

Prval” PRiAR”

LatRING %a%‘ﬁ%

¢ e SAE T

ARMY

Specifically, respondents’ expert testified:

The way that [the Brake-Shoe device] work is . . . when we release the support
platform with the first element on it . . . [t]here’s a force created between the
brake shoe . . ..

There’s a force that’s created which is an actuating force which is part of the
concept of a brake shoe, which is shown here with a — with counter-clockwise
arrows with three arrowheads on it on the top portion of the brake shoe. That
force is created between the insert and the brake shoe. That would be the — that
would be the point that Dr. Pratt talked about as where you get frictional
interengagement.

That actually is just an actuating force. What that causes is the brake shoe to
rotate counter-clockwise and then engage not the lower link element but the upper
link element frictionally. That’s the force that would be sufficient to hold this
brake element. It can’t be the actuating force because that part of the brake shoe
actually slides on the lower link element.

Tr. at 1254:20-1256:2 (emphasis added). Respondents’ expert further testified that frictional
engagement sufficient to lock the Brake-Shoe device occurs between the upper link arm and the

brake shoe:
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Q. Where is the braking force on this brake shoe product?

A. It is between -- in this picture there’s a dark region that looks like a three-
quarter moon that has a bolt through it, a pivot point through it. You can see the
hexagonal bolt pin that goes through it. That brake force occurs between that
element —that element, that brake shoe, and the upper link arm, which we can see
-~ the best way to describe the upper link arm in this photo for the record would
be it’s actually inside. Or if we look at a -- if you look at an axis that goes into the
picture, it’s inside and partially being covered up by that three-quarter moon.
That’s the upper link arm that interacts with the surface of the brake shoe as it
rotates to cause frictional engagement for sufficient force to lock the mechanism.

Tr. at 1257:19-1258:13 (emphasis added). In other words, respondents’ expert testified that the
brake shoe does not actually stop relative to the lower link arm but rather slides against the lower
link arm. The device is designed so that this sliding motion against the lower link arm causes the
brake shoe to rotate and interact with a surface of the upper link arm to lock the device.

Thus, we find that expert testimony from both parties shows that any frictional force
Between the brake shoe and the lower link arm is insufficient to maintain the Brake-Shoe device
in a locked position during normal use. Under our construction, the term “frictionally
interengagable” means “capable of locking engagement by application of only a frictional force
sufficient to maintain a locked position during normal use” and that such frictional force must
include at least the “first” and “second locking members™ of claim 7. Thus, frictional
interengement under claim 34 needs to occur at least between the brake shoe and tﬁe lower link
arm of the accused device. Because expert testimony provided by both parties demonstrates the
contrary, the Commission finds that the Brake-Shoe products do not meet the “frictionally
interengagable” limitation of claim 34 and therefore do not infringe the claim.

2. The Defense of Intervening Rights

The ALJ determined that respondents have not established that they are entitled to the

defense of intervening rights with respect to infringement of claim 34. The ALJ began his

16



PUBLIC VERSION

analysis by noting that because the doctrine of intervening rights is an affirmative defense of
infringement, it must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. 1D at 141 (citing Checkpoint
Svs., Inc. v. U.S. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 54 F.3d 756, 761 (Fed. Cir. 1995); Kaufinan, 807 F.2d at
978). The ALIJ then observed that under 35 U.S.C. § 252, respondents must show that the
products at issue in the investigation are substantively identical to the products they made, sold,
offered for sale or imported prior to the issuance of the reexamination certificate. Id. at 141.
The ALJ proceeded to find that respondents did not clearly and convincingly make such a
showing. Id. at 142-144.

We determine to vacate the ALJ’s determination with respect to the defense of
intervening rights because respondents have raised significant issues regarding the applicable
legal and evidentiary standard.” We further determine not to reach the issues relating to this
defense as we dispose of this investigation on other grounds. See Beloit Corp. v. Valmet Oy, 742
F.2d 1421 (Fed. Cir. 1984) (holding that the Commission is at liberty to reach a no violation
determination on a single dispositive issue).

C. Invalidity

1. Effective filing dates of claim 34

Before the ALJ, the parties argued over the effective filing dates of independent claim 7
and dependent claim 34 of the ‘097 patent. The continuation-in-part application that led to the
‘097 patent was filed on July 1, 1992, but the ‘448 parent application, to which the ‘097 patent
claims priority, was filed on October 31, 1990. In addition, the ‘448 parent application was also

subject to a provisional Australian patent application, the AU ‘578 application, filed on October

*We note, however, that complainant, respondents, and the 1A agree on review that the
appropriate evidentiary standard for the affirmative defense of intervening rights is
preponderance of the evidence.
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31, 1989 and published on May 9, 1991.

In his final ID, the ALJ found that independent claim 7 of the ‘097 patent is entitled to
the benefit of the earlier October 31, 1990 priority date of the ‘448 parent application, whereas
dependent claim 34 is not entitled to the benefit of this earlier date and has an effective filing
date of July 1, 1992. ID at 87 and 93. With respect to whether claim 34 is supported by the ‘448
parent application under 35 U.S.C. §§ 120 and 112, the ALJ observed: “it is . . . undisputed that
the locking shown in the ninth embodiment of the ‘097 patent is completely different from that
shown in the first eight embodiments and that the V-shaped groove of the ninth embodiment
would not have been obvious in the late 1980s.” ID at 92. Thus, the ALJ’s analysis of the
effective filing date of claim 34 assumed that the construction of “frictionally interengagable™ is
limited to the V-shaped groove of the ninth embodiment, contrary to how the term is used in the
context of the ALJ’s infringement analysis of claim 34. Based on these priority date
determinations, the ALJ found that the AU 578 application, to which the ‘448 parent application
claims priority, is not prior art with respect to claim 7 of the ‘097 patent but is prior art with
respect to claim 34. Id. at 26, n. 22. The ALIJ, however, did not rely on the AU *578 application
for his anticipation and obviousness determinations.

We find that the ALJ improperly applied the claim construction of “frictionally
interengagable” by assuming that the term is limited to V-shaped locking members.
Accordingly, we vacate his determination regarding the effective filing date of claim 34 as well
his determination that the AU °578 application is prior art to clam 34. The Commission,
however, takes no position on the effective filing date of claim 34 and whether the AU 578
application is prior to the claim because neither the Commission nor the ALJ relied on the AU

‘578 application in analyzing anticipation and obviousness of claim 34.
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2. Anticipation and Obviousness

A patent may be found invalid as anticipated under 35 U.S.C. § 102(a) if “the invention
was known or used by others in this country, or patented or described in a printed publication in
a foreign country, before the invention thereof by the applicant for patent.” 35 U.S.C. § 102(a).
A patent also may be found invalid as anticipated under 35 U.S.C. § 102(b) if “the invention was
patented or described in a printed publication in this or a foreign country or in public use or on
sale in this country, more than one year prior to the date of the application for patent in the
United States.”

A claim is anticipated and therefore invalid when “the four corners of a single, prior art
document describe every element of the claimed invention, either expressly or inherently, such
that a person of ordinary skill in the art could practice the invention without undue |
experimentation.” Advanced Display Sys., Inc. v. Kent State Univ., 212 F.3d 1272, 1282 (Fed.
Cir. 2000). To be considered anticipatory, the prior art reference must describe the applicant’s
“claimed invention sufficiently to have placed it in possession of a person of ordinary skill in the
field of the invention.” Helijix Lid. v. Blok-Lok, Ltd., 208 F.3d 1339, 1346 (Fed. Cir. 2000).

If the invention is not disclosed or described as setu forth in 35 U.S.C. § 102, a patent may
nevertheless be found invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103(a) if “the differences between the subject
matter sought to be patented and the prior art are such that the subject matter as a whole would
have been obvious at the time the invention was made to a person having ordihary skill in the art
to which said subject matter pertains.” 35 U.S.C. § 103(a). Once claims have been properly
construed, “[t]he second step in an obviousness inquiry is to determine whether the claimed
invention would have been obvious as a legal matter, based on underlying factual inquiries

including: (1) the scope and content of the prior art, (2) the level of ordinary skill in the art, (3)
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the differences between the claimed invention and the prior art; and (4) secondary considerations
of non-obviousness.” Smiths Indus. Med. Sys., Inc. v. Vital Signs, Inc., 183 F.3d 1347, 1354
(Fed. Cir. 1999) (citing Graham v. John Deere Co., 383 U.S. 1, 17 (1966)).

Secondary considerations such as commercial success, long felt but unsolved needs,
failure of others, etc., might be utilized to give light to the circumstance surrounding the origin of
the subject matter sought to be patented and may have relevancy as indicia of obviousness or
nonobviousness. Graham, 383 U.S. at 17-18. To accord substantial weight to secondary
considerations, its proponent must establish a nexus between the evidence and the merits of the
claimed invention. Inre GPAC Inc., 57 F.3d 1573, 1580 (Fed. Cir. 1995).

ii. Anticipation and Obviousness of Claim 7

The references used in the ALJ’s obviousness determination of claim 7 are German
Patent DE 3323780 (“Kompauer”), Australian Publication AU-A-75700/87 (“Adam™), U.S.
Patent No. 790,207 to Holtz (“Holtz”), and U.S. Patent No. 420,069 to Hood (“Hood”). See JX-
63, 1X-69, JX-67, and RX-103. The ALIJ found that although claim 7 is not anticipated by
Kompauer, it is rendered obvious by Kompauer in view of either Adam, Holtz, or Hood. ID at
127-134.

a. The Kompauer Reference

It is undisputed that the art relevant to the <097 patent is “support platforms.” Thus, the
ALJ found that Kompauer is relevant prior art to the ‘097 patent because it involves support
platforms. ID at 127. As observed by the ALJ, the invention in Kompauer relates specifically to

“a height adjustable table or the like with a foot frame™ that “exhibits at least one stably

*The ALJ found that a person of ordinary skill in support platforms in 1989 would have a
Bachelor of Science degree in mechanical engineering or an equivalent foreign degree and have
at least about three years of experience in the design of support platforms. 1D at 126.
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constructed foot,” on top of which is mounted a table top that is “lockable selectively at its

respectively set height level.” Id. at 98. According to Kompauer:

[TThe object of the invention is to provide a height adjustable table, which
exhibits a sturdy foot frame, which allows the height of the table top to be
adjusted quickly and reliably and in an uncomplicated way over a large
adjustment range without requiring separate operating elements or locking
devices that have to be released and tightened again by hand.

JX-63, at CompX002666.

Figure 1 is a perspective view of the height adjustable table according to the invention of

Kompauer:

Fig. 1

JX-63 at CompX002677. Kompauer describes the structures of Figure 1 as follows:

Each of the essentially L-shaped carriers 2 is mounted on the related foot 4 by
means of a parallelogram lever mechanism, which exhibits two parallel
articulated levers 8, 9, which are spaced apart one on top of the other and which
are linked at one end at 10, 11 to the foot 4 and at the other end at 12, 13 to the
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vertical leg of the carrier 2, so as to be swivellabe about the parallel articulated
axes.

JX-63 at CompX002672.
As observed by the ALJ, the parties do not dispute that the Kompauer reference discloses
the following underlined limitations recited in claim 7:

7. A support means for supporting a support platform from a fixed base whereby
the support platform is movable between a first position at least partially below
the fixed base and a second position in front of the fixed base, said support means

comprising
a first element adapted to be mounted to the support platform,

a second element adapted to be affixed to said fixed base,

a pair of linkage elements each pivotally fixed at one end to said
first element at spaced intervals on said first element and each
pivotally mounted at the other end to said second element at
spaced locations spaced on said second element for movement of
the support platform between the first and second positions and
throughout such movement the attitude of said support platform
remains substantially constant,

said support means further comprising a locking means for locking
said support platform in a range of positions including said second

position,

said locking means comprising a first locking member supported
on one of said elements and having a first engagement face
engagable with a second engagement face provided on a second
locking member provided on another of said elements,

said locking members being movable relative to each other upon
the exertion of a force to one of these two elements for moving
said locking members to a released position at which the engagable
faces are disengaged for subsequent movement of said support
platform relative to said base to any of a plurality of desired
positions,

release of the force being effective to cause said engagement faces
to_re-engage to retain said second element relative to said first
element in the desired positions wherein the pivotal connection of
one link element to one of said first and second elements is
displaceable longitudinally from the pivotal connection of the one
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link element with the other of said elements, said first locking
member being provided on said one link element and said second
locking member being provided on the other of said elements, such
longitudinal displacement being effective to move said locking
members between their released and locked positions.

ID at 95-96. According to the ALJ, the dispute between the parties regarding the remaining
limitations of claim 7 centers on which structures disclosed by Kompauer correspond to the
“fixed base” and which structures correspond to the “second element adapted to be affixed to
said fixed base.” Id. at 96. Before the ALJ, respondents argued that engagement disk 15 of
Kompauer corresponds to the recited “second element” of claim 7 and foot 4 of Kompauer
corresponds to the recited “fixed base.” Complainant argued before the ALJ that the “second
element” is missing from Kompauer. According to complainant, if foot 4 is considered the
“second element,” that would force longitudinal foot component 5 of Kompauer to be the “fixed
base,” but Kompauer does not disclose a support means that can be moved below this “fixed
base” as required by claim 7. Complainant also argued that engagement disk 15 of Kompauer
cannot possibly be the “second element” as contended by respondents because the parallel
articulated levers 8 and 9 of Kompauer are not connected to the engagement disk 15 as required
by claim 7.

After examining relevant expert testimony from both parties as well as the Kompauer
reference itself, the ALJ found that the longitudinal foot component 5 of Kompauer corresponds
to the “fixed base” recited in claim 7, and that foot 4 of Kompauer corresponds to the “second
element adapted to be affixed to said fixed base.” ID at 101; see also JX-63. With respect to
foot 4 of Kompauer, the ALJ quoted the following testimony from complainant’s expert:

Q. Dr. Pratt, in what respect did you disagree with Dr. Wood’s analysis of the
asserted claims in view of the Kompauer reference?

A. I disagree with Dr. Wood’s characterization of what the fixed base was. For
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example, Dr. Wood, if we refer to, in the Kompauer reference, if we were to refer
to figure 1, Dr. Wood testified that the two link members 8 and 9, were mounted
to both a first element, which in the Kompauer reference is identified by number
2, and also to item 4.

Well, I do agree with Dr. Wood and the Kompauer translation clearly states that
the two linkage elements are pivotally connected to both items 2 and items 4. |
don’t think there is any dispute in that regard.

However, that would make item 4 the second element in terms of the ‘097 patent.
Not the fixed base. So the fixed base would have to be something that item 4
connects to. And the only thing that comes close is item 5 in this figure.

1d. (quoting Tr. at 1471-1472). Relying on the underlined portions of this testimony, the ALJ
concluded that foot 4 of Kompauer discloses the “second element” of claim 7. Id.

According to the ALJ, engagement disk 15 of Kompauer cannot correspond to the
“second element” as contended by respondents because he found no disclosure in Kompauer that
the articulated lever 9 is “pivotally mounted” to engagement disk 15. ID at 102. The ALJ found,
rather, that in Kompauer, the articulated lever bears an engagement element which may engage
with recesses in the engagement disk. /d.

The ALJ then found that longitudinal foot components 5 of Kompauer correspond to the
“fixed base” of claim 7. ID at 100-101. Specifically, the ALJ relied on the following testimony
‘from complainant’s expert:

A. ... [T]hat would make item 4 the second element in terms of the ‘097 patent.

Not the fixed base. So the fixed base would have to be something that item 4
connects to. And the only thing that comes close is item 5 in this figure.

Q. So Dr. Pratt, just so the record is clear, what is missing under Dr. Wood’s
analysis?

A. Under Dr. Wood’s analysis, the second element is missing.
Q. And is that the same result under your claim construction?

A. No, under my analysis, the second element is item number 4, and so the fixed
base is either item 5 or it is something else. It is probably not even item 5 because
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the Kompauer patent makes clear that item 5 is a component of item 4.

Id. at 101 (quoting Tr. at 1547-1548). Relying on the above underlined testimony, the ALJ
concluded that foot 4 of Kompauer is adapted to be affixed to longitudinal foot component 5 of
Kompauer and that this longitudinal foot component 5 corresponds to the “fixed base” of claim
7. Id.

Using these correspondences, the ALJ observed that in Kompauer, “table top 17 which
corresponds to the “support platform” of claim 7 never moves below the longitudinal “foot
component 5.” 1D at 103. The ALJ further observed that it is not clear whether “table top 1” can
move in front of “foot component 5.” Id. at 127. Thus, the ALJ determined that Kompauer does
not disclose the limitation “the support platform is movable between a first position at least
partially below the fixed base and a second position in front of the fixed base” recited in claim 7.
Id. at 103.

We agree with the ALJ that engégement disk 15 of Kompauer cannot correspond to the
“second element” of claim 7 because testimony from complainant’s expert and the disclosure of
Kompauer both show that the linkage elements of Kompauer are connected to foot 4 rather than
to the engagement disk 15. See Tr. at 1471-1472; JX-63 at CompX002672 and claim 1. In
particular, claim 1 of Kompauer reads as follows:

A height adjustable table . . . which exhibits . . . a parallelogram lever mechanism

(7), which has two parallel articulated levers (8, 9), which are spaced apart one

above the other and which are linked at one end to the foot (3) and at the other

end to the carrier (2), forming a coupling rod, so as to be swivellable about
parallel articulated axes.”

JX-63 at claim 1 (emphasis added). As shown in Figure 1 of Kompauer, the parallel articulated
levers 8 and 9, which correspond to the “pair of linkage elements” recited in claim 7, are

connected at one end to the foot 4, which correspond to the “second element,” and at the other
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end to the carrier 2, which correspond to the “first element.”

Claim 1 of Kompauer further states that the parallel articulated levers 8 and 9 are
“swivellable about parallel articulated axes,” meaning that the levers 8 and 9 (i.e., the “pair of
linkage element”) can rotate about the axes where they connect to foot 4 (i.e., the “second
element™). In addition, with respect to Figure 1, the specification of Kompauer describes that the
connection between the lower lever 9 and the foot 4 can be longitudinally displaced and thus
capable of linear movement:

[T]he lower articulated lever 9 is mounted at the articulated point 11 by means of

an oblong hole 120 on a journal 13, which is arranged on the foot 4, so as to be

swivellable and longitudinally displaceable to a limited extent in the longitudinal

direction of the lever.
JX-63 at CompX002672. In other words, the connection between the lower link member 9 and
foot 4 is capable of both rotational and linear movement. Thus, Kompauer discloses that link
member 9 is “pivotally mounted” to foot 4, as required by claim 7. Accordingly, we find that
foot 4 of Kompauer corresponds to the “second element” of claim 7 and foot component 5
corresponds to the “fixed base” of claim 7.

We also agree with the ALJ that if foot 4 of Kompauer corresponds to the “second
element,” then Kompauer does not disclose the limitation “the support platform is movable
between a first position at least partially below the fixed base and a second position in front of
the fixed base.” According to relevant testimony by complainant’s expert, in Kompauer,
tabletop 1 (which corresponds to the “support platform™ of claim 7) cannot be lowered below the
bottom of foot 4 or the bottom of longitudinal foot component 5. See Tr. at 1630:12-24.
Moreover, as observed by the ALJ, no portion of the specification of Kompauer discloses that

the table top may be adjusted to be partially below the longitudinal foot components. ID at 103.

Thus, the ALJ correctly found that respondents have not established, by clear and convincing
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evidence, that Kompauer anticipates asserted independent claim 7 of the '097 patent. Id. at 103-
104.
b. The Combination of Kompauer with Adam, Holtz or Hood

The ALJ considered each of Adam, Holtz, and Hood to be relevant prior art to the ‘097
patent because respondents’ expert testimony shows that they are all in the technical field of
“support platforms” and that they solve similar problems of adjusting a support platform to place
it at various levels. 1D at 127, 130, and 131. With respect to Adam, the ALJ observed that the
invention relates to a “height adjustment means for a work surface,” such as the separate work
surface of a desk that provides support for a computer keyboard, and “in particular to a height
adjustment means for a work surface that quickly and easily adjusts the height of the surface,”
including a “locking means” for holding the work surface at different heights. Id. at 127 (citing
JX-69, at HMNO00180325-326).

The ALJ found that Adam discloses a work sﬁrface that “can be releasably held in a
plurality of positions.” ID at 128 (citing JX-69 at HMN00180327-HMNO00180331). According
to the ALJ, Adam discloses that the work surface height can be “adjusted to allow the operator
[of the computer] to find the most comfortable position for the keyboard in relation to their
physical requirements” by a variety of means, and that once the work surface reaches a desired
height, it is held by a clamping means that may be engaged via notches. /d. (citing JX-69 at
HMNO00180325). The ALJ found that in a preferred embodiment of Adam, “[t]he support arms
22 are arranged such that they form a parallelogram-type arm and allow for movement of the
work surface 11 in relation to the desk 10 while being moved up and down.” Id. (citing JX-69 at
HMNO00180329). In addition, the ALJ observed that it is undisputed that the support platform 11

of Adam is attached to a bracket that is in turn pivotally connected by linkage elements 22 to
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another bracket that is attached to the fixed base 10. Id. at 129. It is also undisputed that the
support platform of Adam can be moved to various positions, including (1) partially below the
fixed base and (2) in front of the fixed base. Id. Based on the disclosures of Kompauer and
Adam, the ALJ found that a person of ordinary skill in the art would have known that a support
platform can be moved to these various positions, as claimed in the ‘097 patent. Id.
Accordingly, the ALJ concluded that the combination of Kompauer and Adam renders claim 7
obvious. Id.

The ALJ then considered the combination of Kompauer and Holtz. The invention of
Holtz relates to an improvement in the adjusting mechanism for dental tool trays. It is
undisputed that dental tool trays are “support platforms™ and therefore relevant prior art to the
‘097 patent. The ALJ found that one object of the invention of Holtz was to “provide a simple,
inexpensive, and efficient [dental bracket] of great strength and durability capable of ready
adjustment to swing it vertically and horizontally and to vary its length for arranging the table at
the proper elevation and in the proper position.” Id. (citing JX-67 at CompX044454). As
observed by the ALJ, Holtz discloses that “[t]he dental bracket will permit the table to be rotated,
to be swung horizontally, and to be raised and lowered, and said table is firmly supported at the
proper elevation by the locking mechanism, which is readily operable to change the position of
the table.” ID at 130 (citing JX-67 at CompX044455). The ALJ further observed that the
support platform of Holtz can be moved to various positions, including (1) partially below the
fixed base and (2) partially in front of the fixed base. /d. Based on these findings, the ALJ
determined that a person of ordinary skill in the art would have known that a support platform
can be moved to these various positions. /d. at 130-131. Accordingly, the ALJ concluded that

the combination of Kompauer and Holtz renders claim 7 obvious. Id. at 131.
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With respect to Hood, which also relates to an improvement in the adjustment mechanism
for dental tool trays, the ALJ observed that the invention “may be turned to the right or left and
adjusted vertically to any desired altitude.” ID at 131 (citing RX-103 at HMN00183008). The
ALJ observed that in one embodiment of Hood, a shelf retained in position by a pivot “may be
turned into any desired position, and raised or lowered to suit the wants of the operator.” Id.
Thus, the ALJ found that the support platform of Hood can be moved to various positions,
including (1) partially below the fixed base and (2) in front of the fixed base. Id. Based on these
findings, the ALJ determined that a person of ordinary skill in the art would have known that a
support platform can be moved to these various positions. Id. Accordingly, the ALJ concluded
that the combination of Kompauer and Hood renders claim 7 of the ‘097 patent obvious. Id.

Complainant asserts that it was clearly erroneous for the ALJ to combine the invention of
Kompauer with the teaching of Adam, Holtz, or Hood that a support platform can be moved to a
position partially below the fixed base. Complainant argued that, if element 5 of Kompauer is a
foot component that rests on the floor, one of ordinary skill in the art would not combine the
teaching of Adam, Holtz, or Hood (that a support platform can be moved below the fixed base)
with Kompauer because this would require the support platform to move below the plane of the
floor where it rests. According to complainant, the ALJ provided no explicit reasoning or
evidence why a person of skill in the art would be prompted to modify Kompauer according to
Adam, Holtz, or Hood to permit its support platform to travel below the foot, and that the ALJ
made this improper combination based on impermissible hindsight.

The Commission disagrees with complainant’s argument that the ALJ impermissibly
used hindsight to combine the references to allow the support platform of Kompauer to travel

below the foot. We believe that complainant’s argument would be contrary to the obviousness
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standard articulated by the Supreme Court in KSR International Co. v. Teleflex, Inc., 550 U.S.
398 (2007). While the KSR decision cautioned against reliance upon ex post reasoning, the
decision also stated that “[r]igid preventative rules that deny factfinders recourse to common
sense . . . are neither necessary under our case law nor consistent with it.” KSR, 550 U.S. at 421.
According to the Supreme Court, “if a technique has been used to improve one device, and a
person of ordinary skill in the art would recognize that it would improve similar devices in the
same way, using the technique is obvious unless its actual application is beyond his or her skill.”
Id. at 417.

As discussed above, the ALJ relied on relevant expert testimony and the disclosures of
each reference at issue to find that these references are all in the same technical field of support
platforms and solve similar problems of adjusting a support platform to place it at a particular
height or level. Analyzing the disclosures of Adam, Holtz, and Hood in detail, the ALJ found
that each of these references discloses adjusting the support platform to positions including (1)
partially below the fixed base and (2) in front of the fixed base. Thus, the ability to adjust
support platforms to various heights or levels relative to a fixed base is well known in the prior
art. We agree with the ALJ that a person of ordinary skill in the art would recognize this well-
known feature in prior art adjustable support platforms to improve the support platform disclosed
in Kompauer. In our view, the application of this simple technique would not be beyond his or
her skill.

Furthermore, we agree with the ALJ that secondary considerations do not support the
patentability of independent claim 7. The ALJ found that there was no evidence that indicated
any nexus between (1) any sales, awards, or any alleged long felt need and (2) the alleged

patentable features of the invention as claimed in claim 7. ID at 132. The ALJ observed, in
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addition, that complainant admitted that it did not put forth any evidence of copying of the
invention of claim 7. Id. The ALJ further observed that with respect to others accepting licenses
under the ‘097 patent, it is undisputed that complainant paid only $100,000 for the ‘097 patent
and the ‘097 patent is not subject to any license at this time. Id. As recognized by the Federal
Circuit, a weak showing of secondary considerations of nonobviousness does not overcome a
strong prima facie showing that the claims are obvious. See e.g., Leapfrog Enters., Inc. v.
Fisher-Price, Inc., 485 F.3d 1157, 1162 (Fed. Cir. 2007); see also Agrizap, Inc. v. Woodstrearp.
Corp., 520 F.3d 1337, 1344 (Fed. Cir. 2008).

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission affirms the ALJ’s finding that claim 7 of the
‘097 patent is rendered obvious by Kompauer, in view of Adam, Holtz or Hood.

ii. Obviousness of Claim 34

Although the ALJ found claim 7 to be obvious, the ALJ found that claim 34 is not
obvious because there is no evidence that clearly and convincingly proves that one of ordinary
skill in the art would be motivated to use frictionally interengagable locking members. ID at
139. According to the ALJ, complainant’s expert testified that he was not certain whether the V-
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